NATIONS CERD

International Convention on

.. . Distr.
the Elimination GENERAL
of all Forms of CERDY & SR. 1250
Racial Discrimination 9 March 1998

Oiginal: ENG.ISH

COW TTEE ON THE ELI M NATI ON OF RACI AL DI SCRI M NATI ON
Fifty-second session
SUMVARY RECORD OF THE 1250t h MEETI NG

Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,
on Wednesday, 4 March 1998, at 3 p.m

Chai r man: M. ABOUL- NASR

| ater: M. DI ACONU

CONTENTS

CONS| DERATI ON OF REPORTS, COWMMENTS AND | NFORMATI ON SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES
UNDER ARTI CLE 9 OF THE CONVENTI ON (conti nued)

Seventh, eighth and ninth periodic reports of Israe

This record is subject to correction.

Corrections should be submitted in one of the working | anguages. They
shoul d be set forth in a nmenorandum and al so incorporated in a copy of the
record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this docunent to
the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Palais des Nations, Geneva.

Any corrections to the records of the public nmeetings of the Commttee
at this session will be consolidated in a single corrigendumto be issued
shortly after the end of the session

GE. 98- 15457 (E)



CERD/ ¢/ SR. 1250
page 2

The neeting was called to order at 3.10 p.m

CONSI DERATI ON OF REPORTS, COMMENTS AND | NFORMVATI ON SUBM TTED BY STATES PARTI ES
UNDER ARTI CLE 9 OF THE CONVENTI ON (agenda item 7) (continued)

Seventh, eighth and ninth periodic reports of Israel (CERD/ C/ 294/ Add. 1)

1. At the invitation of the Chairman, M. Sabel, M. Zaken, M. Galilee and
Ms. Ronen (Israel) took places at the Conmittee table.

2. M. SABEL (lsrael), introducing the consolidated seventh, eighth and
ninth periodic reports of Israel (CERD/ C/294/Add.1), said that Israel had
become a party to the Convention of its own volition and had thus voluntarily

undertaken to accept the Committee’s nmonitoring. Israel, withits
het er ogeneous society, inevitably had its internal tensions and probl ens.
They were presented frankly, and searching questions were expected. 1In the

whol e of the Mddle East, however, it was the only State agai nst which early
war ni ng or emergency procedures had been initiated by the Comm ttee, which was
surely cause for puzzlenent. Some of the questions it had been asked raised
serious doubts as to whether it was receiving fair and equal treatnment - for
exanpl e, whether Arabs in Israel regarded the State flag as a barrier between
races. Had that question been asked of any other State? Had those States
which flew the sign of the crescent been asked to explain their flag? Wy had
only Israel been asked to explain the relevance of the Bible's rules to its
soci ety, when the Bible was sacred to Christianity, revered by Islam and the
cornerstone of European civilization? The State was further being asked to
comment on statenents made by clearly deranged individuals as if they were
procl amations of State policy.

3. The CHAIRMAN said that the Comrittee treated all countries on an equa
basis, and he would not allow anyone to question its credibility or that of
its previous Chairnen, all of whom had conducted their work inmpartially. If

t he del egation had any criticismto make, it should indicate to whomand to
what occasion it was referring. He did not think Israel had ever been treated
differently fromother States Parties, and when it had | ast cone before the
Committee, it had been praised for its cooperation. He hoped that cooperation
woul d conti nue

4, M. SABEL (lsrael), recalling Israel's position with regard to the
applicability of the Convention to territories under Israeli mlitary

adm nistration, said that, as the Convention did not explicitly address the

i ssue of territorial applicability, and article 29 of the Vienna Convention on
the Law of Treaties stated that a treaty was binding on each party in respect
of its entire territory, it could be presumed that the treaty was not binding
beyond the national territory of the State party to it, and accordingly,

I srael"s obligations under the Convention, including the obligation to report
on its inplenentation, did not appear to extend to territories under mlitary
adm ni stration which were not part of its territory.

5. There were, noreover, substantive reasons why the inplenmentation of the
Convention in the territories should remain outside the scope of the report
and its consideration. A sea change had taken place in the area. Over

95 per cent of the Pal estinian population in the West Bank and the Gaza Strip



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250
page 3

now had sel f-government under the Pal estinian Self-CGoverning Authority, which
had | egi sl ative, adnministrative and judicial powers. There was a Pal estinian
police force and Pal estinian courts adm nistered Palestinian |aw. The |srael
mlitary adm nistration no | onger adm nistered the life of the Pal estinian
popul ation. The final status of those territories was to be settled by

negoti ati ons between Israel and the Pal estinian authorities. |Israel, not only
legally but for very practical reasons, was not in a position to report on
cases of discrimnation in the territories. It was not in a position to

enforce any conpliance with human rights norns in the territories and was
therefore unable to brief the Committee on the situation

6. Under article XIX of the 1995 Interim Agreenent, Israel and the

Pal estinian Council were required to exercise their powers with due regard for
internationally accepted nornms and principles of human rights and the rul e of
law. Israel was, in fact, extrenely concerned about certain Pal estinian

di scrimnatory practices, such as a 1997 political and |egal canpaign of

i ncitement and advocacy of violent action against persons selling real estate
to Israeli citizens, for the racially discrimnating reason that the
purchasers were Jews and Israelis. The abductions and nurders in May 1997 of
Pal esti ni ans who had been involved in such transactions had been given public
justification by high-ranking Palestinian officials. The circunstances of the
i ncitement and subsequent abductions and murders were flagrant violations of
human rights and of civilized norms. Such incitenment and |icence for violence
were incorporated into a proposed discrimnatory Pal estinian |aw on foreign
ownership of real estate, which specifically excluded Israeli citizens. It
woul d be very strange if Israel were to be held accountable for acts of the
Pal esti nian Council ainmed specifically at discrimnating agai nst Israel and
its citizens.

7. Turning to the report and issues raised by nenbers of the Conmttee, he
said that Israel's character as a State of the Jew sh people stood on an equa
footing with its character as a denocracy, with the obligation to accord al
its citizens equal rights, and to prohibit racism Thus the sanme provisions
of the Basic Law concerning the Knesset which allowed disqualification for
rejection of the existence of Israel as the State of the Jew sh people al so
provided for disqualification of a |list of candidates for Knesset elections if
its platformshowed clearly that it was racist or anti-denocratic. It was on
that basis that the Court had upheld the disqualification of the Kach party,
the party of Kahana. He could confirmthat a political party which advocated
that Israel be designated as “The State of all its citizens” had partici pated
in Israeli elections.

8. Wth regard to Israel's law of return, the right of every Jew to cone
and live in Israel was an integral part of the country's credo and
raison d étre. Israel remenbered well the | essons of the Second World War

The | aw of return had been promul gated to ensure that those Jews wishing to
come to Israel would have an absolute right to do so. The |law did not nake
all Jews all over the world into Israeli nationals, but granted themthe right

to become Israeli nationals should they so w sh. The rights of an inmm grant
under that |aw were granted to all nmenbers of an eligible person's famly,
whet her or not such relatives were thenselves Jewish. In addition, a new

i mm grant could opt out of Israeli citizenship but retain the status of
resi dent.



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250

page 4

9. There was al so the 1952 Nationality Law, which stipul ated that
citizenship could be acquired by birth, residence, a conbination of birth and
resi dence, naturalization or grant of nationality. Al'l persons born in

Israel, regardless of religion or ethnicity, were automatically citizens and

enjoyed the rights deriving fromcitizenship, including the right to vote and
be el ected and the right to hold public office. Al Arabs born in Israel or

to Israeli nationals outside Israel acquired Israeli nationality by birth

wi t hout any special formalities or requirenents.

10. Israel had declared its willingness to negotiate on the issue of Arab
refugees and their property, as reflected in its agreement with the Pal estine
Li beration Organization (PLO and in the peace treaty with Jordan. Sone

800, 000 Jewi sh refugees had fled Arab States, leaving all their possessions
behind. In all negotiations, the issue of the property of those Jew sh
refugees and conpensation for their property had to be taken into

consi deration.

11. He quoted the statement by Chief Justice Barak in the Poraz case,
reproduced in paragraph 21 of the report, on the inportance of equality as a
basi ¢ norm of denocratic society. That statement epitom zed Israeli society.
VWile Israel had initially enphasized preventing public discrimnation, it was
now al so, as set out in detail in the report, outlaw ng discrimnation by

i ndi vidual s and pl aci ng i ncreased enphasis on affirmative action. Wth regard
to the sums spent by the Governnent, the present exchange rate was
approximately NIS 3.6 to the United States doll ar

12. The authorities had undertaken an active policy of prosecution of al
forms of racism as evidenced by the recent conviction of Ms. Tatiana Suskin
who had drawn a poster defaming Islam A major devel opment in applying to

i ndi vidual s the rul e against discrimnation had been the 1995 anendnent to the
Equal Opportunities in Enploynment Act, which now included a prohibition of

di scrimnation on grounds of national ethnic origin, country of origin
beliefs, political view political party affiliation or age. The Law also
prohi bited discrimnatory recruitment conditions. The amended | aw had t hus
extended to private persons and private transactions the previously existing
prohi bi ti ons against discrimnation in enploynment by public bodies.

13. The State of Israel had not been involved in any way in the erection of
a shrine to Dr. Goldstein, who had nurdered Pal estinians at the Tonb of the
Patriarchs in Hebron. People in Israel regarded himas a crimnal. He was

buried in a private cenetery, with no nenorial other than the gravestone. The
restoration of the Western Wall tunnel in Jerusal em had been undertaken to
reveal archaeol ogical finds and inprove the tourisminfrastructure in the Add
City. It was a major contribution to the study of urban society in the tine
of the Muslimreign, and in any event the tunnel did not run under the Tenple
Mount. No archaeol ogical or religious sites had been damaged in its
construction, nor did its restoration endanger any buil di ngs or other
structures in the Od City.

14. Separate Jewi sh, Christian, Mislimand Arnmenian quarters had existed in

Jerusalem for centuries, as was the customin many M ddl e Eastern cities. The
different communities tended to congregate around their respective holy places
and al so had their own custons, shops and neeting places. |Israeli society saw



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250
page 5

it as its function to ensure the coexistence of the different comunities
rather than abolish their separate identities. Many cities throughout the
wor |l d had suburbs and quarters with a predom nant popul ati on of one community
or another, such as New York’s Little Italy.

15. As to the residence status of Arabs living in Jerusalem the

overwhel ming majority of whom were pernmanent residents, they could opt to
become citizens, but npst had not done so. So long as a person continued to
live in Jerusalem he or she could not be deprived of the right to permanent
resi dence. A person who left Israel and did not return, even for a short
visit, over a period of seven years, was deened to have changed donicile.
VWi | e payment of |ocal taxes m ght provide an indication of residence,

non- paynment of taxes in itself did not constitute grounds for revocation of
residence. The Arab population in Jerusalem continued to grow, both in
absolute terns and in proportion to the city’'s Jew sh popul ation; from

26 per cent of the city's population in 1967, it now represented 30 per cent.
And whereas the Jewi sh popul ati on had grown by 11 per cent since 1990, the
Arab popul ation had i ncreased 24 per cent.

16. The claimthat Israel only supported the research of Jewi sh sites had no
basis in reality. There was conplete pluralistic scientific freedomin that
field, as witnessed by the variety of researchers fromlsrael and abroad and
of sites involved. He cited the study and preservation of sites fromthe
Mamel uk, Muslim early Christian and Crusader periods of Jerusal em and of
Armeni an and Byzantine chapels uncovered during road construction in the city,
whi ch had been excavated with great care and were being protected in ful
cooperation with the Armenian Patriarch. Leading antiquities inspectors and
ar chaeol ogi cal comm ssioners were fromthe G eek Othodox, Mislim Arab and
Druze communities. Accusations concerning archaeol ogy were therefore strange
to hear, as that was one area in which the Governnent enjoyed excell ent
ecuneni cal relations.

17. Qut of some 2 million workers in Israel in 1996, about 95,000 had been

l egally enpl oyed foreigners, and there were now an estimted 100,000 ill ega
foreign workers, accounting altogether for about 10 per cent of the country's
total workforce. Steps were being taken to address the |egal and practica
aspects of that problem However, the law did not discrim nate between
foreign workers and resident Israeli workers. The Equal Enpl oynent
Opportunity Law of 1988 expressly prohibited discrimnation on the basis of
nationality or land of origin in regard to granting work opportunities and
determi ning conditions of work, and the rights guaranteed by the | abour |aws
applied to all workers irrespective of their citizenship. Educational

wel fare and health services were provided without distinction, and all workers
were covered for work accidents, maternity and childbirth. Legal foreign
workers were entitled to additional benefits, while illegal workers were
entitled to emergency services only. The Foreign Enmpl oyees (Unl awfu

Enpl oynment) Law 1991 set out crimnal prohibitions on enployers and enpl oyment
agencies with respect to enploynent or detention of workers.

18. A pending bill was designed to conpel enployers to provide proper |iving
conditions for their foreign workers, to issue all foreign workers with a copy
of their enploynment contract in a | anguage they understood and to provide
health insurance. The bill was exceptional in that it inposed direct duties



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250
page 6

on the enpl oyer by neans of |egislation. The nmeasure stemmed fromthe fact
that foreign workers, many of whomentered as tourists and remained illegally,
were nore vulnerable to exploitation. The Government was doing its best to
deal on the one hand with the need to reduce the nunmber of foreign workers,
especially illegal workers, and on the other to protect them An

adm ni strative authority had been created in 1996 to hel p solve problens that
had arisen.

19. As to conpulsory mlitary service for Israeli Arabs, it would create
obvi ous dil emmas, since they mght find thenmselves in conflicts with Arabs
from nei ghbouring countries. On the other hand, by not serving in the arnmy,
they were not participating in what was a very inportant aspect of the Israel
social fabric. As a conpromise - albeit an inperfect one - they were

t herefore exenpted from such service and encouraged to engage in voluntary
mlitary service. Since 1957, at the request of their community | eaders,

I srael Defence Force service had been mandatory for Druze and Circassi an nen,
and the nunber of Bedouin joining the career arnmy was increasing steadily.

20. Until the previous year, the famlies of people who had served in the
arnmy had received a higher children’ s all owance than those who had not served.
As that had been regarded as discrimnatory, the distinction had been
abolished. The only remaining difference was that individuals serving three
years in the arny received a cash grant upon conpl eti on of service, anmounting
to some $200, while those who did not serve could either study or engage in
gai nful enpl oynent, giving thema scholastic, training or financial advantage.

21. M. Diaconu took the Chair.

22. M. ZAKEN (lsrael), speaking as Adviser to the Prine Mnister on Arab
Affairs, a post which indicated the inportance attached by the Governnment to
rel ati ons between the communities, said that the Governnent had an affirmative
action policy with regard to the non-Jew sh sector of the population. One
exanpl e of that policy was the Civil Service's practice of setting aside posts
to be filled by Arab college graduates. In Decenber 1997, the Civil Service
Commi ssi on had announced 54 additional positions for Arab graduates
exclusively. Oher posts in the Cvil Service were open to the public at
large, with no differentiation between Jews and Arabs.

23. The Governnent was preparing plans and project outlines

for 34 non-Jewish localities in the north of the country. They were designed
to solve fundanental problens in the areas of planning, development, industry
and planning, and testified to the Governnent’s policy of narrowi ng gaps in
the area of master planning. Since 1991, 36 per cent of the Arab localities
had submitted plans which had been approved, as against only 28 per cent in

t he Jew sh sector.

24. New i nitiatives had been introduced to i nprove contact and coordi nation
between | ocalities and government mnistries. They included visits to
non-Jew sh areas by senior officials and district directors and the
establishment of an inter-mnisterial commttee conprising advisers for Arab
affairs and senior referees to the non-Jew sh sector in the various governnent
mnistries.



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250

page 7
25. The rol e of Adviser on Arab Affairs included dealing with issues rel ated
to discrimnation in enploynent. In May 1997, an investigation into a branch

of Israel’s |argest tel ephone conpany had been able to solve the problemof a
refusal to hire Arab candi dates on the ground that they had not served in the
I sraeli arnmny.

26. The O fice was also actively involved in trying to find conciliatory
arrangenents in cases of disputes between the |ocal non-Jew sh popul ati on and
the State authorities and in cases of conflicts that had an ethnic/religious
di mension. Such arrangenents had been secured in a dispute in Tubia-Zangria
and in a conflict between Muslimand Christian residents in Tur'an

27. Local authority budgets were given in the formof a “balance grant”,

whi ch constituted a bal ance between the incone and expenditure of the | oca
authorities. A special three-year supplenent had been granted to Arab
localities in the current year. For various reasons, many regional Arab
councils had organi zati onal and adnministrative problens. One of the
difficulties they often faced was the |ow rate of collection of municipa

t axes, which affected the council’s budget and thus the bal ance grant fromthe
M nistry of the Interior. A further problemin the non-Jew sh sector was the
multiplicity of rotation agreenments in the |Iocal councils, which affected the
accunul ated deficit that council |eaders then left to their successors. |In
order to assist Arab localities, the Mnistry of Interior had maintained the

| evel s of their balance grant and there had been a 40 per cent increase in the
annual devel opnent budget, even though the State budget had been cut
drastically. The Government mnistries' investnent in devel opnent budgets for
t he non-Jew sh sector had reached NIS 432.4 mllion in 1996 and investnents
had totalled NIS 503.9 million in 1997

28. Despite the fact that the proportion of Israeli Arabs in the student
popul ati on was approximately 20 per cent, their share of the Mnistry of
Educati on’ s devel opnent budget exceeded 30 per cent. Between 150 and 170

cl assroonms were added each year. One hundred localities, 39 per cent of them
in the Arab sector - which accounted for 18 per cent of the population - were
benefiting fromthe programe inpl enmented under the Long School Day and
Enrichment Studi es Law which had been in effect since January 1998.

29. The “Netivei Hagalil” highway construction conpany was involved in
i nfrastructure devel opnent and road paving in Arab localities, under the
auspices of the Mnistry of Transport. It operated only in Arab areas and had

succeeded in inproving roads and pavenents in non-Jewi sh areas. The Mnistry
of Conmuni cati ons was working, through legislation, to approve specific Arabic
broadcasti ng channel s.

30. I srael was pronoting a “conputer for every child” project which was
targeted at children fromunderprivil eged homes. The project had been

l aunched first in Arab cities and it was estimated that, over five years, the
project would provide conputers for approximtely 20,000 Arab children

31. M. BANTON (Country Rapporteur) said that I|srael should make every
effort to engage in regular dialogue with the Commttee in accordance with the



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250
page 8

reporting cycle provided for under article 9 of the Convention, in view of the
nunmer ous problens involved in the application of the Convention to the
circunstances in Israel and the occupied territories.

32. In order to save tine and give Israel the opportunity fully to prepare
itself for the debate with the Commttee, he had prepared comments and
guestions for the State party (CERD/ C/ 52/ M sc. 8/ Rev. 1) which the Secretari at
had sent to the Pernanent M ssion of Israel, subject to three conditions.
However, maybe due to a breakdown in conmuni cation, the del egation of Israe
had replied to sone of the issues covered in the docunent before the questions
had been asked formally in the neeting, which had not been the purpose of the
exerci se. The observations nmade by M. Zaken, hel pful as they had been

shoul d have been included in the ninth periodic report, which would have left
nmore tinme for dial ogue between the Cormittee and the State party.

33. Paragraphs 2 to 4 of article 1 of the Convention listed exceptions to
the definition of racial discrimnation. There was no exception for words or
actions that were notivated by religious belief. That observation was
relevant in the case of Israel in ways that would not be relevant in many

St at es.

34. He asked whether Arab Israelis regarded the State flag, the anthem and
official State holidays as forns of barriers between races. |If that was the
case, how wi despread was that feeling and was the Government aware that that
was s0? Another potential barrier was the fact that Arab citizens were not
subject to compulsory nmilitary service. Did the Governnment encourage Bedouin
and other Arab citizens to serve in the arny voluntarily and was that part of
any policy for the integration of non-Jew sh citizens?

35. He wondered whet her there was any reason to believe that the issue of
buil ding permits in Jerusal emwas handl ed wi thout discrimnation

36. In respect of article 4 of the Convention, he had nade no statenent
concerning a shrine for Baruch Col dstein.

37. There were many questions regarding the conduct of soldiers and
officials and how they were governed by mlitary regul ations. He had observed
that their conduct could be influenced by religious |aw

38. Did the 1985 amendnent to the Basic Law nmean that a political party
whi ch expressly ainmed at equality for Jewish and Arab citizens would be unable
to nom nate candi dates for the Knesset?

39. The Conmittee would wel cone information on why “nationality” should be
recorded on identification cards. It would also like to know why there were
grounds for uncertainty as to whether the right of Palestinians to return to
their |ands cane within the Convention

40. The next periodic report of Israel should provide full details of
whet her Arab and Jewi sh wonmen were equally protected by the State agai nst
violence in marriage.



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250
page 9

41. Future reports submtted by Israel should provide information on actions
taken by the Governnent to prevent raci st propaganda from bei ng di ssem nated
on the Internet.

42. Wth regard to article 5 of the Convention, the organization B tselem
had all eged that the security forces in Hebron had forced Pal estinian wonen
between the ages of 17 and 19 to strip in front of other people. It was

doubtful that the security forces would have treated Jewi sh wonmen in the sanme
way.

43. Pri soners exposed to the risk of torture were disproportionately of Arab
ethnic origin. Although that matter was within the conpetence of the
Conmittee, it should take no further action until the Committee against
Torture had conpleted its investigations of the situation. Research indicated
that a person of Arab origin charged with a crine, with no previous crimna
record, was twice as likely to be convicted than a Jewi sh person in the sane
situation, and that sentences for Arab offenders were harsher

44, Par agraph 19 of the report nmentioned the case of Burkan v. M nister of
Finance. Further information on that case and its inplications in terms of
raci al discrimnation should be provided.

45. The report did not nention any cases in which Israeli courts had
accepted clainms of racial discrimnation and upheld the equal rights of the
Arab mnority. It had, however, gone into great detail on the Re’em case to

illustrate the approach of the Suprenme Court to the equal rights of Arabs. The
Legal Centre for Arab Mnority Rights in Israel (ADALAH) suggested, however,
that the case re-enphasized the indifference of the courts to the group rights
of the Arab minority in Israel

46. He asked whether army service was misused as a criterion for enploynent
or the provision of a service, who was responsi ble for protecting the
interests of the excluded group and how often action had been taken

47. In view of the difficulties encountered in terns of what was neant
by indirect discrimnation, the Conmttee should consider expandi ng
General Reconmendation XV (42) by adding the foll ow ng wording:

“In considering whether a differentiation of treatnment constitutes
discrimnation in effect, the Conmttee will (a) exam ne
differentiations ostensibly based on grounds other than those listed in
article 1.1 to see whether they have significant effects on the rights
to be protected under the Convention; and (b) exclude any
di fferentiati on which can be justified on grounds of the inherent
requi rements of the position.”

48. The del egati on should comment on the case of M. Kaadan, of Arab origin
who had wanted to join a cooperative in Katsir.

49. He asked whether there was reason to believe that the Equal Opportunity
in Enpl oynent Act was effectively enforced for Israeli citizens and for



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250
page 10

non-citizens. Information was al so needed on whether educational expenditure
on the different communities within Israel was proportionate to the nunber of
children of school age in those conmunities.

50. Referring to the right to equal participation in cultural activities, he
asked whet her the next report could describe neasures which ensured that the
antiquities policy was non-discrimnatory.

51. On article 6, he pointed out that the Conmttee regularly asked States
for details of reparations so as to be able to assess whether they were
effective. Could the Committee have that information? Did the Public
Conpl ai nts Comm ssioner report to the Knesset, and if so, to what effect?

52. Turning to the occupied territories, if the Israeli CGovernment was
unwilling inits periodic reports to cover inplenentation of the Convention in
the occupied territories, did that not nake it appropriate for the Commttee
to consider such questions under its procedure for the prevention of racia

di scri m nation?

53. As to housing in the occupied territories, he pointed out that in order
for Israel to be in conpliance with the Convention, new housing nust be nade
avail able to all woul d-be tenants or purchasers irrespective of ethnic origin

54. Did not the application of residence requirenments to Arabs in effect
constitute discrimnation?

55. Was there any discrimnation in the access to hi ghways for notorists?

56. The Arab Association for Human Rights had reported to the Comrittee on
t he many problems of unequal treatnent in connection with what were called
“unrecogni zed villages”. There were no “unrecogni zed” Jewi sh villages, only
Arab ones. Could the Israeli delegation comment?

57. According to the Palestinian Society on the Protection of Human Ri ghts
and the Environnent, the mlitary courts were in violation of the Fourth
CGeneva Convention and the rights set out in article 14 of the Internationa
Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. One of the cases cited had concerned
four members of an undercover unit of the Israeli defence forces who in
Novenber 1996 had each been fined one agora, |less than one US cent, for
negligently causing the death in 1993 of Iyad Amali, a passenger in a car

whi ch had been stopped at a checkpoi nt.

58. M. ABOUL- NASR said that the Committee had had a very constructive
exchange of views with the Anbassador of Israel at the previous session

Today, M. Sabel had addressed the Cormittee in a very aggressive manner
accusing it of statenents which it had not even made.

59. First of all, what did the Israeli delegation nean by saying, at the
begi nning of its statenent, that it had becone a party to the Convention of
its own volition? Didit think that other States parties had been forced to
accede to that instrument? Did it believe that |Israel was unique in having
acceded to the Convention of its owmn will? The Israeli head of del egation had



CERD/ ¢/ SR. 1250
page 11

suggested that it was being discrimnmnated against and treated unfairly. Such
an attitude was not at all conducive to pronoting understanding in the region

60. Much of what M. Sabel had said was untrue. For exanple, he called
Israelis who had criticized the Governnent deranged. The Israeli Governnent
woul d have done well to listen to sonme of the statements of the wife of the
former Prime M nister.

61. Wth regard to the issue of the erection of a shrine to M. Goldstein
to which the del egation had referred, could M. Sabel tell the Conmittee what
was witten on that shrine and whether he considered it racist?

62. Whenever |srael made a statenment, it invariably stressed that it was the
only denocracy surrounded by dictatorships. That was rem niscent of Israel's
attitude that it was always under attack, and of its earlier statenment that it
had acceded to the Convention of its own volition. |Israel was not the only
denocracy in the region; in fact, nany exanples could be cited to show that it
was not a denocracy at all. Mention had been made of the right of return

That | aw contained not only a humanitarian, but also a racist element. |If
Russi an Jews were granted Israeli nationality as soon as they set foot in

| srael, whereas Arabs, Muslins or Christians were refused the right to return
to their own countries to reclaimtheir houses or farms, it was because they
bel onged to a different ethnic or religious group. Was that possible in a
denocracy? Was it denpcratic to deny Palestinians the right to use certain
roads? Why were they not allowed to use route 607

63. The Israeli delegation had referred to Chief Justice Barak. Was he the
same judge who had ruled that the torture of Palestinians was |egal? Could
the Comrittee have a copy of the decision by that court, issued on

15 Novenber 1996, allow ng Pal estinians to be shaken so roughly that death
could ensue? It was likewise difficult to see what was denocratic about the
dai ly bull dozing of Pal estinian hones or the construction of a dozen new
settlenents in the Jerusalemarea for Jews only.

64. Could the Israeli delegation informthe Committee how many Pal estini ans
were detained in Israeli prisons without trial and for how many years? How
many were women? How did that square with the principles of denopcracy?

65. The Israeli delegation had referred to Jerusalem as though it al

bel onged to Israel. That was not the opinion of the international comrunity,
whi ch woul d never accept the annexation of East Jerusalem \What were Israel's
borders? It occupied part of the territories of a nunber of neighbouring
States: Lebanon, the Gol an Heights, the Wst Bank and East Jerusal em
presumably all in the nanme of denocracy.

66. There nust be a way to accommodate the right to security and the right
to peace, both of which were inportant and valid. The best approach was one
based on nutual respect, not on clains to be the only denocracy. The
Conmittee raised criticisns about the situation in the country of every

del egation that appeared before it; the Israeli del egation should not fee
that it was being singled out.



CERD/ ¢/ SR. 1250
page 12

67. M. RECHETOV was pleased that the Conmittee was devel opi ng a useful

di al ogue with the Israeli Government. |Israel's future would depend on how t he
probl em of relations between the Jewi sh and Arab parts of the popul ati on was
resolved. He agreed with M. Banton that it would be necessary for Israel to
deci de which el ement was nore inportant, the denocratic or the ethnic one.

68. Turning to the ninth report, he was struck by a remark towards the end
of paragraph 27 on the “need for tolerance towards the speaker of a foreign
| anguage”. What foreign | anguage was that? |If it was Arabic, then the
assertion at the beginning of paragraph 27 that Arabic was “an officia

| anguage of the State” was clearly meaningless. He also sought clarification
on the statenent in the mddle of that same paragraph that “one should not
obstruct the progress of soneone who wi shes to | egally advance the exclusive
i mposition of the Hebrew | anguage in our lives”, which to his mnd was an
under st andi ng of freedom of speech that was so broad as to be inconsistent
with the Convention, for such a goal could only be achieved by prohibiting
ot hers from speaki ng their own nother tongue.

69. The section of the ninth report beginning with paragraph 33 was entitled
“affirmati ve action”, which was mni sl eadi ng, because it did not describe
measures to assist Ethiopians per se, but only Ethiopian Jews. That the

I sraeli Governnent took a variety of steps to help Jewish inmgrants fromall
countries was common know edge.

70. Wth regard to paragraph 50, he sought further clarification on howthe
“external security situation” could have an adverse effect on the
soci o-econom ¢ conditions of the Arab popul ation

71. Par agraph 55 stated that the Arab school system used Arabic as the

| anguage of instruction, as did teacher-training colleges associated with the
Arab school system whereas universities, post-secondary |evel colleges and
speci ali zed technical schools were fully integrated. Did that mean that at
university level, the only | anguage used was Hebrew, to the detrinent of

Ar abi c?

72. What was the current Israeli policy with regard to forner Sovi et
citizens who wanted to have dual Israeli-Russian citizenship? He had read in
the press that certain influential persons in the Russian Federation had
Israeli citizenship as well. Had Israeli practice changed to all ow Russi an

i mmgrants to have dual citizenship, or was that an exception granted only to
weal t hy i ndi vi dual s?

73. In closing, he assured the Israeli delegation that the Cormittee put the
sanme kinds of questions to all State parties which appeared before it and that
it | ooked forward to continued constructive dialogue with Israel in a spirit
of goodwi || .

74. M. de GOUTTES said that he had the inpression that with the arrival of
the Israeli delegation in the Commttee, the atnosphere had becone nore
charged and tense. It was up to everyone present to maintain a spirit of

di al ogue and objectivity. Like other nmenbers, he had been somewhat surprised




CERD/ C/ SR. 1250
page 13

by the tone in which the Israeli del egation had begun its oral presentation
apparently accusing the Comrittee of treating it nmore harshly than others.
That was unfounded.

75. Concerning the occupied territories, M. Sabel had asserted that |Israe
was no longer in a position to ensure that human rights were protected there,
that Pal estinian law was now in force in the occupied territories, and that

I srael considered that the Convention was not applicable there. That
statement was inconsistent with the opinion expressed in the Cormmittee's
decision 1 (51), adopted at its 1236th neeting on 18 August 1997.

76. Par agraphs 50 et seq. of the report contained a frank acknow edgenent of
the gap between the Jewish majority and the Arab mnority in terns of |iving
standards and invol venent in national affairs, with corroborative statistics
on |ife expectancy, schooling and judicial convictions. He was surprised by
the statement that the discrepancy was partly attributable to the fact that
Arabs were not conscripted and hence were denied involvenent in a vita

el enent of Israeli society. Ws he justified in drawing the inference that
the arned forces played a vital role in social pronotion?

77. A sonewhat idyllic picture was presented of Arab advancenent policies in
education, health, housing, culture, sport and social protection. The
Committee generally based its assessnent of the circunstances and degree of
integration of mnorities on such socio-econonic indicators as schoo

enrol nent ratios, enploynent rates, access to public service and socia
services, crime and inprisonnment statistics and nortality and norbidity

rati os. What special neasures of affirmative action had been taken to bridge
the gap between the ngjority and mnority comunities? How many Arabs worked
in mnistries or held high-ranking posts in the civil service?

78. Had action been taken to conpensate Arabs who had been expropriated or
whose hones had been destroyed? Was it true that Arabs in the occupied
territories were subject to special legislation and mlitary courts which
according to Amesty International's latest report, failed to respect

i nternational norns and m ni mrum standards for a fair trial?

79. He requested statistics on conplaints, |egal proceedings and sentences
relating to acts of racial or ethnic discrimnmnation and decisions regarding
reparations or conpensation on behalf of the victinms of such acts, primarily
Arab victinms but also Israelis.

80. VWile the information on Suprenme Court decisions provided in

par agraphs 14 et seq. was useful and significant, the Conmttee would
appreciate nore information on the attitude of the police authorities and the
Attorney-Ceneral's Ofice and on decisions of courts of first instance in
cases of racial discrimnation

81. M. van BOVEN said he was sonewhat surprised that the del egati on had
been provided with the Country Rapporteur's questions in advance. That was
not the Commttee's normal practice and it placed the delegation in a
privileged position. He regretted that the Comm ttee had not received either
the report or relevant NGO material in tinme to give themthe in-depth

consi deration they deserved.




CERD/ ¢/ SR. 1250
page 14

82. He associated hinself fully with the comments of the Country Rapporteur
He feared that any exchange on the issue of the applicability of internationa
treaties to the occupied territories would yet again prove to be a dial ogue of
the deaf. As Israel had refused for over 30 years to recognize the
applicability of the 1949 Geneva Convention and various human rights
instruments to the occupied territories, he wondered about the degree of

i nternational accountability for a situation which placed the popul ation
concerned in very vul nerable circunstances. The Committee disagreed with the
del egation's argunment that treaties were not binding beyond a country's
territorial jurisdiction. There was a strong parallel in a recent judgenent
by the European Court of Human Ri ghts, which had found agai nst Turkey in a
case brought by a G eek-Cypriot owner of inmovable property in northern Cyprus
concerning violation of the European Convention on Human Ri ghts by the Turkish
armed forces. Turkey's argunent that it had no jurisdiction in northern
Cyprus had been dism ssed by the Court. The prevailing human rights doctrine
was that a State was responsible for actions in a territory under its control
In the case now under consideration, it had been argued that the situation was
under the control of the Palestinian Authority but, regardless of the validity
or otherwi se of that argument, it failed to address the issue of the Jew sh
settlenents in the occupied territories. The status of the settlenents was
clearly inconsistent with article 3 of the Convention which, as noted in the
Committee's CGeneral Recommrendation XI X, prohibited all forms of racia
segregation in all countries. There was a consensus anmopng publicists that the
prohibition of racial discrimnation, irrespective of territories, was an

i nperative normof international |aw

83. Referring to paragraph 16 of the report, he asked whether it was true
that the Kach and Kahana Chai terrorist organizations still existed, perhaps
under another name. The Conmittee woul d appreciate further information on
action taken agai nst such organi zati ons.

84. He was unhappy with the structure of the report. Did the section under
the heading “affirmative action” include all paragraphs from33 to 100?

85. bserving that the Commttee had taken up the issue of anti-Semtismin
its dealings with many States parties, he stressed the rel evance of the
Convention to victim zed and di sadvant aged non-Jewi sh groups in Israel and the
occupied territories. Referring to NGO material on housing and settl enent
rights, he inquired about the status of sone 60,000 Arabs living in villages
that were not officially recognized or shown on maps. Was it true that al
structures in those conmmunities were viewed as illegal buildings subject to
denolition? Wat was being done to resolve the issue in a just and equitable
manner? Some 110, 000 Arab Bedouin lived in 43 recogni zed and unrecogni zed
settlenents in the Negev Desert. Wis it true that the authorities had renoved
some of the Bedouin fromtheir traditional |ands and forced theminto

Gover nment - pl anned townshi ps that were inconpatible with their custons and
lifestyles?

86. Some of the roughly 200, 000 Pal estinians displaced within Israel since
the events of 1948 had sought to recover their property but nost requests had
been rejected by the Suprene Court. What type of conpensation had they

recei ved and had they been offered alternative housing and settl enent
facilities?



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250
page 15

87. M. LECHUGA HEVIA, referring to paragraph 8 of the report concerning the
anmendnent to “Basic Law. The Knesset” which prevented raci st novenents from
running for election, said that article 4 required States parties, in
addition, to declare all dissem nation of racist ideas an of fence punishable
by I aw and to di sband raci st organi zati ons.

88. Par agraph 14 reported the case of a person convicted for witing an
article justifying the killing of non-Jews. |In what publication had the
article appeared and had the publishers been punished? Paragraph 17 stated
t hat hol ders of concessions for cable tel evision nust not transmt any
broadcast containing racial incitenent. Did the same rule apply to press
mat eri al ?

89. Par agraph 30 acknow edged that there was no clear Supreme Court decision
in support of the norns prohibiting discrimnation in private transactions.
That om ssion obviously encouraged discrimnatory acts in the private sector
According to paragraph 31, the 1995 Anendnment to the Equal Opportunity in

Enpl oyment Law 1988 prohi bited discrimnation by an enployer with a staff of
six or more persons. The inplication seened to be that an enployer with fewer
than six enpl oyees was free to practise discrimnation

90. Was it true that the “Basic Law. Human Liberty and Honour” failed to
mention the right to equality and stressed the ethnicity of the State of

I srael, thereby depriving the Arab minority of constitutional protection
agai nst discrim nation?

91. He asked the del egation to comment on reports that the Governnent's |and
use plan for 1998 provided for the building of 23,000 dwelling units, none of
whi ch woul d be located in Arab vill ages.

92. Arabs with a crimnal record were allegedly twice as likely to be
convicted by a court than Jews. According to a study undertaken in 1990 by
t he Department of Crimnology of the Hebrew University, 30 per cent of young
Arabs, conpared with only 2 per cent of young Jews, received custodia

sentences. In 1993, 80 per cent of young persons in custody were Arabs.
93. No academic institution existed to preserve and pronote the Arabic
| anguage in Israel. Although Arabs constituted 18 per cent of the popul ation,

there was no Arabic-language university in Israel

94. M. VALENCI A RODRI GJEZ agreed with M. Lechuga Hevia that article 4
required the di sbhandnment of such nmovenments as Kach and Kahana Chai and the
puni shment of their |eaders and participants.

95. VWhat practical results had followed the entry into force of the 1995
Amendnment to the Equal Opportunity in Enploynment Law 1988 which introduced a
prohi bition on various kinds of discrimnation?

96. The definition of racismin Section 144A of the Penal Law, 1977, as
anended in 1986 and 1992, was not consistent with that contained in article 1
of the Convention. Paragraph 29 acknow edged that the outlaw ng of

di scrimnation by individuals against each other had devel oped slomy. He
urged the Government of Israel to step up action in that area to ensure



CERD/ C/ SR. 1250
page 16

bal anced progress in the fight against racial discrimnation. He welconed the
affirmative action on behalf of minority groups, particularly Ethiopian Jews
and Arabs, described in the report. He trusted that the Governnent woul d keep
the Committee informed of progress in that area with respect to al

mnorities. There was very little information in the report on the

i mpl enentation of article 5.

97. Wth regard to article 6, it was recognized that an inpartial and

i ndependent judicial systemwas the main bulwark of the individual against
acts of racial discrimnation. He stressed the inportance of the office of
Publ i ¢ Conpl ai nts Commi ssi oner and suggested that it should be reinforced in
the future. He asked for additional information on the Comr ssioner's work
and on specific court cases.

98. M. ABOUL- NASR requested the del egation to provide the Conmrittee with a
map of Israel at the foll owi ng neeting.

The neeting rose at 6 p.m




